

(3s.) **v. 2022 (40)** : 1–14. ISSN-0037-8712 IN PRESS doi:10.5269/bspm.45992

Solving Fractional Differential Equations by the Ultraspherical Integration Method

Ali Khani and Saeid Panahi

ABSTRACT: In this paper, we present a numerical method to solve a linear fractional differential equations. This new investigation is based on ultraspherical integration matrix to approximate the highest order derivatives to the lower order derivatives. By this approximation the problem is reduced to a constrained optimization problem which can be solved by using the penalty quadratic interpolation method. Numerical examples are included to confirm the efficiency and accuracy of the proposed method.

Key Words: Fractional differential equation, Ultraspherical polynomials, Ultraspherical integration matrix.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Preliminaries	2
3	Ultraspherical polynomials and some of the properties	3
4	Ultraspherical spectral approximations 4.1 Ultraspherical integration matrix	$\frac{4}{5}$
5	Shifted ultraspherical polynomials	6
6	Description of the method	6
7	Partial Quadratic Interpolation Method(PQI)	7
8	Modified PQI Method	8
9	Error estimation and convergence	9
10	Numerical examples	11
11	Conclusion	13

1. Introduction

In recent decades, fractional equations have gained much attention due to exact description of physical phenomena such as damping laws, electromagnetic acoustics, viscoelasticity, electro analytical chemistry neuron modeling, diffusion processing and material science (see for example [8,10]). Also many attempts have been made to find analytical and numerical solutions for the fractional problems.

These attempts include introducing finite difference [5,20], collocation-shooting [6], spline and *B*-spline collocation [18], Adomian decomposition [11], variational iteration [17], operational matrix [22] and many other methods.

Some authors present spectral or pseudospectral integration methods proven successful in the numerical solutions of many problems (see for example [2,3,4,12]).

In this work, we introduce a new formula of spectral integration matrix depends on using ultraspherical polynomials at some equally spaced points. The results indicate that the spectral accuracy is achieved and the effect of round off errors is limited.

 $^{2010\} Mathematics\ Subject\ Classification:\ 35B40,\ 35L70.$

Submitted December 25, 2018. Published June 26, 2019

By the ultraspherical integration matrix we approximate the highest order fractional derivatives to the lower order fractional derivatives. By this work, the problem is reduced to a constrained optimization problem which can be solved by using the penalty quadratic interpolation method [13].

Consider a linear fractional differential equation in the from:

$$D^{\alpha}y(x) + f(x)y(x) = g(x), \ n - 1 < \alpha < n, \ n \in \mathbf{N}, \ 0 \le x \le 1$$
(1.1)

with initial conditions:

$$y^{(k)}(0) = b_k, \qquad k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(1.2)

where $f, g: [0, 1] \to R$ are given continuous function, and b_k are given constants.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows:

Basic concepts of fractional calculus problems are discussed in section 2. In section 3, we introduce ultraspherical polynomials and some of their properties. In section 4, ultraspherical spectral approximation for a given function and ultraspherical spectral integration matrix are presented. In section 5, description of the method and convergence are discussed. And finally in section 6, numerical results for confirmation of proposed method are presented.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some basic concepts and properties of the fractional calculus which are used throughout the paper.

Definition 2.1. [21] A real function f(x), x > 0, is said to be in the space $C_{\mu}, \mu \in R$, if there exist a real number $p > \mu$, such that $f(x) = x^p f_1(x)$, where $f_1(x) \in C[0,1)$. If $\beta \leq \mu$, then $C_{\mu} \subset C_{\beta}$.

Definition 2.2. [21] A function f(x), x > 0 is said to be in the space $C^m_\mu, m \in N \cup \{0\}$, if $f^{(m)} \in C_\mu$.

Definition 2.3. [9] The Riemann-Liouville fractional integral operator of order $\alpha \geq 0$ of a function $f \in C_{\mu}, \mu \geq -1$, is defined as:

$$I^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{f(t)}{(x-t)^{1-\alpha}} dt \ \alpha > 0, x > 0,$$
(2.1)

$$I^0 f(x) = f(x). (2.2)$$

Definition 2.4. [21] Let $f \in C_{-1}^n$, $n \in N \cup \{0\}$. Then the Caputo fractional derivative of order α is defined as:

$${}^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}f(x) = I^{n-\alpha}f^{(n)}(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(n-\alpha)} \int_{0}^{x} \frac{f^{(n)}(t)}{(x-t)^{1-(n-\alpha)}} dt, \ n-1 < \alpha < n, n \in \mathbf{N}.$$
 (2.3)

It can be shown that [6,8,9]:

$$\begin{aligned} 1. \ I_{a}^{\alpha}I_{a}^{\beta}f &= I_{a}^{(\alpha+\beta)}f & \alpha, \beta > 0, f \in C_{M}, M > 0. \\ 2. \ I_{a}^{\alpha}x^{\beta} &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+1)}x^{\alpha+\beta}, \quad \alpha > 0, \quad \beta > -1, \quad x > 0 \\ 3. \ I_{a}^{\alpha}(^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}f(x)) &= f(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1}f^{k}(0^{+})\frac{x^{k}}{k!}, \quad x > 0 \\ 4. \ ^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}I^{\alpha}f(x) &= f(x), \quad x > 0, \quad n-1 < \alpha \le n. \\ 5. \ ^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}C &= 0, \quad C \text{ is constant.} \\ 6. \ If \beta < [\alpha], \ then \quad {^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}x^{\beta}} &= 0, \quad x > 0. \\ 7. \ If \beta > [\alpha], then \quad {^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}x^{\beta}} &= \frac{\Gamma(\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\beta-\alpha+1)}x^{\beta-\alpha}, \quad x > 0. \end{aligned}$$

In this paper, we used the Caputo fractional derivative, because it allows traditional initial and boundary conditions to be included in the formulation of the problem.

3. Ultraspherical polynomials and some of the properties

The ultraspherical (Gegenbauer) polynomials with the real parameter $\left(\lambda > -\frac{1}{2}, \lambda \neq 0\right)$, are a sequence of polynomials $C_j^{(\lambda)}(x), j = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$, in the finite domain $x \in [-1, 1]$, each respectively of degree j satisfying the orthogonality relation:

$$\int_{-1}^{1} (1-x^2)^{\lambda-\frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) C_k^{(\lambda)}(x) dx = \begin{cases} 0 & j \neq k \\ \psi_j^{(\lambda)} & j = k \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where the normalization constant $\psi_j^{(\lambda)}$, is defined as [23]:

$$\psi_j^{(\lambda)} = 2^{1-2\lambda} \pi \frac{\Gamma(j+2\lambda)}{(j+\lambda) \{\Gamma(\lambda)\}^2 \Gamma(j+1)}, \quad \lambda \neq 0.$$
(3.2)

Here, the ultraspherical polynomials are standardized such that $C_j^{(\lambda)}(1) = 1$, for j = 0, 1, ..., has the desirable properties that $C_j^{(0)}(x)$ is identical with the Chebyshev polynomial of the first kind $T_j(x)$, $C_j^{(1/2)}(x)$ is the Legender polynomial $P_j(x)$ and $C_j^{(1)}(x)$ is equal to $\left(\frac{1}{j+1}\right)U_j(x)$, where $U_j(x)$ is the Chebyshve polynomial of the second kind.

The polynomials $C_j^{(\lambda)}(x)$ may be generated by Rodrigue's formula given as [6]

$$C_{j}^{(\lambda)}(x) = \sum_{r=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}j \right\rfloor} (-1)^{r} \frac{\Gamma(j-r+\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda)(r!)(j-2r)!} (2x)^{j-2r}.$$
(3.3)

In applications, recurrence formulaes which link pairs of coefficients are often more useful than explicit formulae for the coefficients. Therefore, a general expression for an ultraspherical polynomial can be considered as:

$$C_{j}^{(\lambda)}(x) = \sum_{r=0}^{\left[\frac{1}{2}j\right]} G_{r}^{(j)}(\lambda) x^{j-2r},$$
(3.4)

where

$$G_r^{(j)}(\lambda) = (-1)^r \frac{2^{j-2r} \Gamma(j-r+\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda)(r!)(j-2r)!}.$$
(3.5)

A relationship between the coefficients $G_{r+1}^{(j)}(\lambda)$ and $G_r^{(j)}(\lambda)$ is given by:

$$G_{r+1}^{(j)}(\lambda) = -\frac{(j-2r-1)(j-2r-2)}{4(r+1)(\lambda+j-r-1)}G_r^{(j)}(\lambda),$$
(3.6)

where

$$G_0^{(0)}(\lambda) = 1, \quad G_0^{(j)}(\lambda) = 2^j \frac{\Gamma(j+\lambda)}{\Gamma(\lambda)j!},$$

and so $C_0^{(\lambda)}(x) = 1, C_1^{(\lambda)}(x) = 2\lambda x.$

Theorem 3.1. [16] The integral of ultraspherical polynomials is expressed in terms of ultraspherical polynomials as follows:

$$I(x_i) = \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx = \sum_{r=0}^{\lfloor \frac{1}{2}j \rfloor} \frac{1}{j - 2r + 1} G_r^{(j)}(\lambda) \left(x_i^{j - 2r + 1} - (-1)^{j - 2r + 1} \right).$$
(3.7)

Proof. see [6].

4. Ultraspherical spectral approximations

In the remaining parts of this paper, we assume that f(x) is a smooth continuous function and

$$S = \left\{ x_i = \frac{i}{N}, \quad i = 0, \dots, N \right\}.$$

Theorem 4.1. [15] Let f(x) be approximated by ultraspherical finite expansion, namely,

$$f(x) \simeq \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j C_j^{(\lambda)}(x).$$

Then

$$a_j = (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} \int_{-1}^{1} (1 - x^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) f(x), \qquad (4.1)$$

where

$$\psi_j^{(\lambda)} = 2^{1-2\lambda} \pi \frac{\Gamma(j+2\lambda)}{(j+\lambda)[\Gamma(\lambda)]^2 \Gamma(j+1)}, \quad \lambda \neq 0$$

Proof. See [7].

Theorem 4.2. Let $\frac{\phi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}}$ $(t \neq x)$ be approximated by ultraspherical polynomials as in (4.1):

$$a_j \simeq \sum_{k=0}^N \frac{2\theta_k}{N} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(t - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}},$$
(4.2)

where $\theta_0 = \theta_N = \frac{1}{2}$, $\theta_k = 1$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N - 1.

Proof. By using the Trapezoidal rule

$$\int_{a}^{b} f(x)dx = h \sum_{j=0}^{N} {}''f(x_j) - \frac{(b-a)h^2}{12} f''(\xi), \ h = \frac{b-a}{N},$$

we obtain from (5.1):

$$a_j = \frac{2}{N} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} {}^{\prime\prime} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(t - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} \frac{-2}{3N^2} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} H_j^{(2)}(\xi)$$

with

$$H_j(x) = (1 - x^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) \frac{\phi(x)}{(t - x)^{1 - \alpha}}$$

Hence

$$a_j \simeq \frac{2}{N} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} {}'' (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{\lambda}(x_k) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(t - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}}.$$

With $\theta_0 = \theta_N = \frac{1}{2}$, $\theta_k = 1$ for k = 1, 2, ..., N - 1, and

$$\frac{\phi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}} \simeq \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{2\theta_k (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1}}{N} (1-x_k^2)^{\lambda-\frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(t-x_k)^{1-\alpha}} C_j^{\lambda}(x), \quad t, x_k \in S.$$

4

4.1. Ultraspherical integration matrix

In this section, we approximate integral of a function $f \in C[-1, 1]$ by interpolating the function with ultraspherical polynomial at the points given in S.

Theorem 4.3. Let $\frac{\phi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}}$ $(t \in S, t \neq x)$ be approximated by ultraspherical polynomial. Then there exists a matrix $Q = [q_{ij}], i, j = 0 \dots N$, satisfying

$$\int_{-1}^{x_i} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} dx \simeq \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^{N} q_{ik}(\lambda) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}},\tag{4.3}$$

where

$$q_{ik}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{r=0}^{\left[\frac{1}{2}j\right]} \frac{2\theta_k G_r^j(\lambda)(\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1}}{N(j-2r+1)} (1-x_k^2)^{\lambda-\frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \left(x_i^{j-2r+1} - (-1)^{j-2r+1}\right), \tag{4.4}$$

for $x_i, x_k \in S$, with $\theta_0 = \theta_N = \frac{1}{2}$, $\theta_k = 1$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$.

Proof. From theorem 3, we have

$$\frac{\phi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} \simeq \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^{N} \frac{2\theta_k (\psi_j(\lambda))^{-1}}{N} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x), \tag{4.5}$$

therefor

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-1}^{x_i} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} dx = \\ &\sum_{\substack{j=0 \ k \neq i}}^{N} \sum_{\substack{k=0 \ k \neq i}}^{N} \frac{2\theta_k (\psi_j(\lambda))^{-1}}{N} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \left[\frac{\phi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx \right] \\ &= \sum_{\substack{k=0 \ k \neq i}}^{N} \left[\sum_{\substack{j=0 \ k \neq i}}^{N} \frac{2\theta_k (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1}}{N} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx \right] \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}}, \end{split}$$

substituting from (3.7) yields

$$\int_{-1}^{x_i} \frac{\phi(x)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^N q_{ik}(\lambda) \frac{\phi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}},$$

with

$$q_{ik}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{r=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}j \right\rfloor} \frac{2\theta_k G_r^j(\lambda)(\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1}}{N(j-2r+1)} (1-x_k^2)^{\lambda-\frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \left(x_i^{j-2r+1} - (-1)^{j-2r+1}\right),$$

for $x_i, x_k \in S$, with $\theta_0 = \theta_N = \frac{1}{2}$, $\theta_k = 1$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$, which completes the proof. \Box

5. Shifted ultraspherical polynomials

The shifted ultraspherical polynomials are defined on [0, 1] by

$$\tilde{C}_n^{(\lambda)}(x) = C_n^{(\lambda)}(2x-1).$$

All results of ultraspherical polynomials can be easily obtained for their shifted. The orthogonality relation for $\tilde{C}_n^{(\lambda)}(x)$ with respect to the weight function $(x-x^2)^{\lambda-1/2}$ is given by

$$\int_0^1 (x - x^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} \tilde{C}_j^{(\lambda)}(x) \tilde{C}_k^{(\lambda)}(x) dx = \begin{cases} 0 & j \neq k \\ 4^{-\lambda} \psi_j^{(\lambda)} & j = k, \end{cases}$$

where $\psi_j^{(\lambda)}$ is given in (3.2)(see [4]) . As a direct consequence of Theorem 4, we have the following corollary.

1. Let $f(x) \in L^2[0, 1]$, then

$$f(x) \simeq \sum_{j=0}^{N} a_j \tilde{C}_j^{(\lambda)}(x), \qquad (5.1)$$

where

$$a_j = 4^{\lambda} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} \int_0^1 (x - x^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} \tilde{C}_j^{(\lambda)}(x) f(x)$$

2. Let f(x) be approximated by shifted ultraspherical polynomials, then there exists a matrix $\tilde{Q} =$ $[\tilde{q}_{ij}], \quad i, j = 0 \dots N$, satisfying

$$\int_{0}^{x_i} f(x)dx \simeq \sum_{\substack{k=0\\t\neq k}}^{N} \tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)f(x_k),$$
(5.2)

where

$$\tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda) = \sum_{j=0}^{N} \sum_{r=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}j \right\rfloor} \frac{4^{\lambda} 2\theta_k \tilde{G}_r^j(\lambda) (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1}}{N(j-2r+1)} (x_k - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} \tilde{C}_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \big((2x_i - 1)^{j-2r+1} - (-1)^{j-2r+1} \big), \quad (5.3)$$

for $x_i, x_k \in S$, with $\theta_0 = \theta_N = \frac{1}{2}$, $\theta_k = 1$ for $k = 1, 2, \dots, N-1$.

6. Description of the method

In this section, we shall present the ultraspherical spectral integration method for solving the problems (1.1) - (1.2). For this, purpose we give ultraspherical integration matrix for the highest order fractional derivative in the problem (1.1), i.e

$$\varphi(x) = {}^{c}D_{0}^{\alpha}y(x), \quad n-1 < \alpha \le n.$$
(6.1)

An application of the integral operator I^{α} to both sides of (5.1) and using the initial conditions (1.2) and part3 of (2.4), yield (for a = 0)

$$y(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \frac{x^k}{k!} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{\varphi(t)}{(x-t)^{1-\alpha}} dt.$$

Hence, for $x \in S$ and use the theorem 4, we get

$$y(x_i) \simeq \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \frac{x_i^k}{k!} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^N \frac{\varphi(x_k)q_{ik}}{(x_i - x_k)^{1-\alpha}}.$$
 (6.2)

Substituting (6.1) and (6.2) into (1.1), it can be written as:

$$\varphi(x_i) \simeq F(x_i) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \frac{x_i^k}{k!} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^N \frac{\varphi(x_k) q_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1-\alpha}} \right), \quad 0 \le i \le N,$$

or

$$\varphi_i - F(x_i) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} b_k \frac{x_i^k}{k!} + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^N \frac{\varphi(x_k) q_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1-\alpha}} \right) \simeq 0$$

This can be written as NLP problem:

$$F_k=(\varphi_0,\varphi_1,...,\varphi_n,\lambda)=0, \quad k=0,....N.$$

By using partial quadratic interpolation method [13], we can solve the above unconstrained optimization problem.

7. Partial Quadratic Interpolation Method(PQI)

The essential steps to apply the partial quadratic interpolation method [13] can be summarized as follows:

1)Choose some starting point $x^0 \in \mathbf{R}_m$ and $\nu = 1$.

2)Approximate the function F(x) about in the quadratic form

$$F(X) = a + [B_m(x^r)]^{T_r}[x - x^r] + \frac{1}{2}[x - x^r]^{T_r}[A_m(x^r)][x - x^r]$$

where A_m and B_m represent the gradient vector and the Hessian matrix of the function F(x) respectively. To compute particular values for a, A_m, B_m we choose a set of interpolation points as follows: i) m points $[x_{i\perp}^r], i = 1, ..., m$

$$[x_{i+1}^r] = (x_1^r, x_2^r, ..., x_{i-1}^r, x_i^r + l_i, x_{i+1}^r, ..., x_m^r)$$

ii)m points $[x_{i-}^r], i = 1, ..., m$

$$[x_{i-}^r] = (x_1^r, x_2^r, \dots, x_{i-1}^r, x_i^r - l_i, x_{i+1}^r, \dots, x_m^r)$$

iii) $\frac{m(m-1)}{2}$ point $[x_{ij}^r], i=1,...,m-1,j-i+1,...,m$ where

$$[x_{ij}^r] = (x_1^r, x_2^r, \dots, x_{i-1}^r, x_i^r + l_i, x_{i+1}^r, \dots, x_j^r + l_j, \dots, x_m^r)$$

Using these interpolation points it can be shown that $a = F(x^r)$ and the elements b_i, a_j , of A_m, B_m respectively are given by

$$b_{i} = \frac{F(l_{i+}) - F(x_{i-1})}{2l_{i}}, a_{ii} = \frac{F(x_{ij}^{r}) - 2F(x^{r}) + F(x_{i-}^{r})}{l_{i}^{2}}, a_{ij} = \frac{F(x_{ij}^{r}) - F(x_{i+}^{r}) - F(x_{j+}^{r}) + F(x^{r})}{l_{i}l_{j}}$$

The l_i are a set of constants which determine the accuracy of the inerpolation.

3)Extract the symmetric positive definite matrix $[A_q]$ from the symmetric matrix $[A_m]$ using Choliski method, $q \leq m$ by cancelling certain rows and columns. Essentially we write $A_m = [S_m][S_m]^{Tr}$. From this we have

$$s_{11}^2 = a_{11}$$

If $a_{11} \leq 0$ then we eliminate the first row and column in each of $[A_m], [S_m]and[S_m]^{Tr}$ and perform the calculation on the $[A_{m-1}], [S_{m-1}]and[S_{m-1}]^{Tr}$. If $a_{11} \geq 0$ then we have

$$s_{11}^2 = \sqrt{a_{11}}, s_{1j} = \frac{a_{1j}}{s_{11}}, j = 2, ..., m.$$

Let us now suppose that we have operated on the first j-1 columns of [S], i.e. We have either calculated the elementes or eliminated them. The operation on the j^{th} column gives

$$s_{jj}^2 = a_{jj} - \sum_{i \in k1, i \leqslant j} s_{ij}^2.$$

where k1 is the set of indices of rows and columns not eliminated. If $s_{jj} \leq 0$ we eliminate the j^{th} columns and rows $[A_q]$ and $[S_q]$ where $[A_q]$ and $[S_q]$ are the current reduced matrices derived to date from $[A_q]$ and $[S_q], q \leq m$. Otherwise we take

$$s_{jj} = \sqrt{a_{jj} - \sum_{i \in k1, i \leqslant j} s_{ij}^2}, s_{ij} = \frac{[a_{ij} - \sum_{i \in k1, i \leqslant j} s_{ij}^2]}{s_{jj}}$$

This process is repeated for each column until we finally obtain the reduced matrix $[A_q]$ given by

$$[A_q] = [S_q][S_q]^{T_q}$$

4)Solve the system of the linear equations

$$[A_q][\Delta x_i] = [B_q]$$

where B_q is the reduced form of gradiant vector corresponding to A_q . 5)Compute a new point $x^{\nu+1}$ from

$$x_i^{\nu+1} = \begin{cases} x_i^{\nu+1} + \beta \bigtriangleup x_i, & for x_i \in \mathbf{R}_q \\ x_i^{\nu}, & for x_i \in \mathbf{R}_q \end{cases}$$

where β is a parameter which takes values $1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}, \dots$ and we use the first value of β which satisfies $F(x^{\nu+1}) < F(x^{\nu})$. If β becomes too small without satisfying this condition, the calculation can be restarted with a finer approximation of the matrices $[A_m]$ and $[B_m]$, i.e. smaler values l_i .

8. Modified PQI Method

In PQI method we set $t = 1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}, \dots$ and we take the first value of t which satisfies the condition

$$f(x^{r+1}) < f(x^r), x^r \in \mathbf{R}_n$$

However, the value of t taken by this way may not be the optimal value of t. Since there is a great possibility that the optimal value t^* lies between these values, i.e. bwtween $t = 1, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{4}, \dots$ to get the optimal step size t^* we suggest the following modification:

Let us approximate $f(t) = f(x^r + t\delta x^r)$ by a polynomial of second degree $p_2(t)$ over the interval [0, 1] as following:

$$f(t) = p_2(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \frac{t}{h} & (\frac{t}{h})^2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} L_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} f_0 \\ f_1 \\ f_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

where h is the interval of the interpolation, $f_{2i} = f(u^r + i\delta u^r), i = 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1$ and L_2 is a Lagrange matrix where

$$L_2 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -3 & 4 & -1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

from this and $p_2(t)$ we have

$$p_2(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & \frac{t}{h} & (\frac{t}{h})^2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 \\ -3 & 4 & -1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} f_0 \\ f_1 \\ f_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

then,

$$p_{2}'(t) = \frac{1}{h}\left(-\frac{2}{3}f_{0} + 2f_{1} - \frac{1}{2}f_{2}\right) + \frac{2t^{*}}{h^{2}}\left(\frac{1}{2}f_{0} - 4f_{1} + f_{2}\right) = 0$$

and taking $h = \frac{1}{2}$ we obtain

$$t^* = \frac{3f_0 - 4f_1 + f_2}{4(f_0 - 2f_1 + f_2)}$$

9. Error estimation and convergence

Theorem 9.1. [15] Let $f(x) \in C^{\infty}[-1,1]$ be approximated by

$$f(x) \cong \sum_{k=0}^{N} a_k C_k^{(\lambda)}(x),$$
 (9.1)

then for each x in [-1,1], there exists a number $\xi(x) \in [-1,1]$, such that

$$R_N^{[\lambda]}(x,\xi) = f(x) - P_N(x) = \frac{f^{N+1}(\xi)}{(N+1)!K_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}} C_{N+1}^{\lambda}(x)$$
(9.2)

and

$$\|R_N^{(\lambda)}(x,\xi)\| \le \max_{1\le\delta\le 1} \frac{1}{(N+1)!K_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}} \|f^{N+1}(\xi)\|,$$

where

$$K_N^{\lambda} = 2^N \frac{\Gamma(N+\lambda)\Gamma(2\lambda+1)}{\Gamma(N+2\lambda)\Gamma(\lambda)}.$$

Proof. See [7].

Theorem 9.2. Let $\frac{\varphi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}}$ $(t \in S, t \neq x)$ be approximated by (9.1), then there exists a number ξ in [-1,1] such that

$$\int_{-1}^{x_i} \frac{\varphi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} dx = \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^{N} \frac{\varphi(x_k) q_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} + E_N^{(\lambda)}(x_i, \xi),$$
(9.3)

where $x_i, x_k \in S, \ 0 \le i \le N$,

$$E_N^{(\lambda)}(x_i,\xi) = \frac{f^{(N+1)}(\xi)}{(N+1)!K_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}} \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_{N+1}^{[\lambda]}(x)dx$$
(9.4)

$$-\frac{2}{3N^2} \sum_{j=0}^{N} [\psi_j^{(\lambda)}]^{-1} H_j^{(2)}(\xi) \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx.$$
(9.5)

By $f(x) = \frac{\varphi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}}$, the (5.6) is convergence.

Proof. Let $\frac{\varphi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}}$ be approximated on S by ultraspherical polynomials, then by (5.1), (5.1), (5.3) and the trapezoidal rule, we have

$$\frac{\varphi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} \simeq \sum_{j=0}^{N} \frac{2}{N} \left[\psi_j^{(\lambda)} \right]^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^{N} {}^{\prime\prime} (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\varphi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) - \frac{2}{3N^2} (\psi_j(\lambda))^{-1} H_j^{(2)}(\xi))^r C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) + \frac{f^{(N+1)}(\xi)}{(N+1)! K_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}} C_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}(x).$$

then integration of both sides gives

$$\begin{split} \int_{-1}^{x_i} \frac{\varphi(x)}{(x_i - x)^{1 - \alpha}} dx &= \sum_{j=0}^N \frac{2}{N} \left[\psi_j^{(\lambda)} \right]^{-1} \sum_{k=0}^N '' (1 - x_k^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x_k) \frac{\varphi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} \\ &\int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx - \frac{2}{3N^2} \sum_{j=0}^N \left(\psi_j^{(\lambda)} \right)^{-1} H_j^{(2)}(\xi) \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) dx \\ &\quad + \frac{f^{(N+1)}(\xi)}{(N+1)! K_{N+1}^{[\lambda]}} \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_{N+1}^{(\lambda)}(x) dx \\ &= \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i \neq k}}^N q_{ik}(\lambda) \frac{\varphi(x_k)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \alpha}} + E_N^{(\lambda)}(x_i, \xi), \end{split}$$

where $E_N^{(\lambda)}(x_i,\xi)$ is defined by (5.7) and

$$f^{(N+1)}(x) = \left(\frac{\varphi(x)}{(t-x)^{1-\alpha}}\right)^{(N)} = \varphi^N (t-x)^{\alpha-1} + N\varphi^{(N-1)} (-1)(\alpha-1)(t-x)^{\alpha-2} + \dots + \varphi(-1)^N \alpha(\alpha-1) \dots (\alpha-N)(t-x)^{\alpha-(N+1)}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^N \varphi^k (-1)^k \alpha(\alpha-1) \dots (\alpha-k) \cdot (t-x)^{\alpha-(k+1)}$$

Since, the first term in (5.7) is bounded, it is enough for showing the convergence of (5.6), to show that the second term is bounded. For this purpose, we first show that $\|C_j^{(\lambda)}\| = \psi_j^{(\lambda)} < 1$. From

$$\psi_j^{(\lambda)} = 2^{1-2\lambda} \pi \frac{\Gamma(j+2\lambda)}{(j+\lambda)[\Gamma(\lambda)]^2 \Gamma(j+1)}, \quad \lambda \neq 0.$$

and

$$2\int_0^{\pi/2} \cos^{(2x-1)}(t) \sin^{(2y-1)}(t) dt = \frac{\Gamma(x)\Gamma(y)}{\Gamma(x+y)}, \quad \Gamma(j+1) = j\Gamma(j),$$

we have:

$$\psi_j^{(\lambda)} \le \frac{\pi 2^{1-2\lambda}}{\pi^2 j(j+\lambda)} < 1.$$
 (9.6)

Since $x \in [-1, 1]$

$$H_j(x) = (1 - x^2)^{\lambda - \frac{1}{2}} C_j^{(\lambda)}(x) \frac{\phi(x)}{(t - x)^{1 - \alpha}}$$

is a twice continuously differentiable function, then there exists a real number M such that $|| H_j^{(2)}(x) || \le M$. Finally,

$$\| \frac{2}{3N^2} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} H_j(x)^{(2)} \int_{-1}^{x_i} C_j^{\lambda}(x) dx \| \le \frac{2}{3N^2} (\psi_j^{(\lambda)})^{-1} \| H_j(x)^{(2)} \| 2\psi_j^{(\lambda)} \le \frac{4M}{3N^2},$$

and so $E_N^{(\lambda)}(x_i,\xi)$ is bounded.

10. Numerical examples

In this section, we give computational results of some examples, to support our theoretical results. let us consider an initial value problem for one of the simplest fractional order differential equations appearing in applied problems:

$${}^{c}D_{x}^{\alpha}y(x) + Ay(x) = f(x), \quad 0 < x$$
(10.1)

with initial conditions:

$$y^{(k)}(0) = 0, \qquad k = 0, 1, \dots, n-1,$$
(10.2)

where A is a positive constant and $n-1 < \alpha < n$. For $0 < \alpha \le 2$ this equation is called the relaxation-oscillation equation.

Example 10.1. As the first example, we consider the following initial value problem:

$${}^{c}D_{0}^{(\alpha)}y(x) + y(x) = x^{4} + \frac{24x^{4-\alpha}}{\Gamma(5-\alpha)}, \quad 0 \le x \le 1$$
(10.3)

with the initial condition y(0) = 0 and the exact solution $y(x) = x^4$. Let $\alpha = \frac{1}{8}$

and $\varphi(x) = {}^{c}D_{0}^{\frac{1}{8}}y(x)$. By using the shifted ultraspherical polynomials and system (4.7), (4.8) and corollary 1,2 we have the form,

$$\varphi_i + \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{8}\right)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i\neq k}}^N \frac{\varphi_k \tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{\frac{7}{8}}} - x_i^4 - \frac{24x_i^{\frac{3}{8}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{39}{8}\right)} = 0,$$

where $\tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)$ is defined by (4.9), for $x_i \in S, i = 0, 1, ..., N$.

This can be written as NLP problem:

$$F_k = (\varphi_0, \varphi_1, ..., \varphi_n, \lambda) = 0, \ k = 0,N.$$

By using quadratic interpolation method, we can solve the above unconstrained optimization problem. The results are computed at different numbers of α on the [0, 1]. They show the efficiency and spectral accuracy of ultraspherical integration method. In table [1], we compare the approximate solutions of Eq (6.1) obtained by the ultraspherical integration method with the exact solution for the N = 5, $\alpha = \frac{1}{16}, \alpha = \frac{1}{8}, \alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\lambda = 0.55$.

Table 1: Absolute error of example 10.1

x_i	$\alpha = \frac{1}{16}$	$\alpha = \frac{1}{8}$	$\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$
x_0	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
x_1	0.0001	0.0002	0.0007
x_2	0.00019	0.00020	0.00074
$\overline{x_3}$	0.00023	0.00033	0.000305
x_4	0.0029	0.0034	0.00835
x_5	0.00717	0.0084	0.087

Example 10.2. Our second example covers the linear equations:

$${}^{c}D_{0}^{(\alpha)}y(x) + y(x) = x^{8} + \frac{\Gamma(9)x^{8-\alpha}}{\Gamma(9-\alpha)}, \quad 0 \le x \le 1, \quad 0 < x \le 1,$$

with the initial conditions y(0) = 0 and the exact solution $y(x) = x^8$. For $\alpha = 0.8$, Let ${}^{c}D_0^{(0.8)}y = \varphi(x)$ by fractional integration we have,

$$y(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(0.8)} \int_0^x \frac{\varphi(t)}{(x-t)^{0.2}} dt$$
(10.4)

$$y(x_i) \simeq \frac{1}{\Gamma(2/3)} \sum_{k=0}^{N} \frac{\varphi(x_k)\tilde{q}_{ik}}{(x_i - x_k)^{1/2}}.$$
 (10.5)

By using the shifted ultraspherical polynomials and the relations (4.7), (4.8) and corollary 1, 2 we have the system :

$$\varphi_i + \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(\frac{8}{10}\right)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i\neq k}}^{N} \frac{\varphi_k \tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1 - \frac{2}{10}}} - x_i^8 - \frac{\Gamma(9)x_i^{7,2}}{\Gamma(8.2)} = 0$$

where $\tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)$ is defined by (4.9).

This can be written as NLP problem:

$$F_k = (\varphi_0, \varphi_1, ..., \varphi_n, \lambda) = 0, \ k = 0,N.$$

By using quadratic interpolation method, we can solve the above unconstrained optimization problem. The results are computed at different numbers of α on the [0, 1]. They show the efficiency and spectral accuracy of ultraspherical integration method. In table [2], we compare the approximate solutions of Eq (6.2) obtained by the ultraspherical integration method with the exact solution for the $\alpha = 0.8, \alpha = 0.5, \alpha = 0.1$ and $\lambda = 0.75, N = 5$.

Table 2: Absolute error of example 10.2

x_i	$\alpha = 0.8$	$\alpha = 0.5$	$\alpha = 0.1$
x_0	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
x_1	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
x_2	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001
x_3	0.0009	0.0003	0.0009
x_4	0.0073	0.0030	0.0052
x_5	0.036	0.015	0.021

Example 10.3. Consider the following linear initial value problem

$${}^{c}D_{0}^{(\alpha)}y(x) + y(x) = 1, (10.6)$$

with initial condition:

$$y(0) = 0. (10.7)$$

The exact solution is $E_{\alpha}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{\alpha k}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha k)}$, where $E_{\alpha}(x)$ is a one-parameter function of the Mittag-Leffler type.

Let

$$\varphi(x) = {}^c D_0^{\alpha} y(x), \tag{10.8}$$

by the fractional integration we have $y(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^x \frac{\varphi(t)}{(x-t)^{1-\alpha}} dt$, for the $x_i \in S$;

$$y(x_i) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \int_0^{x_i} \frac{\varphi(t)}{(x_i - t)^{1 - \alpha}} dt,$$
 (10.9)

by substituting and shifted ultraspherical polynomials and relations of (4.6), (4.7) and using corollary 1, 2 we have

$$\varphi_i + \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \sum_{\substack{k=0\\i\neq k}}^{N} \frac{\varphi_k \tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)}{(x_i - x_k)^{1-\alpha}} - 1 = 0,$$

where $\tilde{q}_{ik}(\lambda)$ is defined by (4.9). This can be written as NLP problem:

$$F_k = (\varphi_0, \varphi_1, ..., \varphi_n, \lambda) = 0 \ k = 0, N_k$$

By using quadratic interpolation method, we can solve the above unconstrained optimization problem. The results are computed at different numbers of α on the [0, 1]. They show the efficiency and spectral accuracy of ultraspherical integration method. Table [3] display absolute error function with various values of α and N = 5, N = 10, N = 15, and $\lambda = 0.55$.

α	N = 5	N = 10	N = 15
$\alpha = 0.25$	0.00041	0.00011	0.000029
$\alpha = 0.5$	0.00153	0.00012	0.0000105
$\alpha = 0.75$	0.0073	0.000724	0.000124

Table 3: Absolute error of example 10.3

11. Conclusion

In this paper we presented a numerical approach for solving the fractional differential equations. The ultraspherical functions were employed. The obtained results showed that this approach can solve the problem effectively.

References

- M. Abd-Elhameed, H.Youssri and H. Doha, New solutions for singular Lane-Emden Equations arsing in Astrophysics based on shifted Ultraspherical operational Matrices derivatives, Computational Method for Differential Equations. 3 (2014)171-185.
- Q.M. Al-Mdallal, M.A. Hajji and A.S. Abu Omer Fractional-order Legender -collocation method for solving fractional initial value problems, Applied Mathematics and Computation. 321 (2018)74-84.
- Q.M. Al-Mdallal and M.A. Hajji, The Chebyshev collocation -path following method for solving sixth-order Sturm-Liouville problems, Applied Mathematics and Computation. 232 (2014) 391-398.
- 4. Q.M. Al-Mdallal and M.A. Hajji, A convergent algorithm for solving higher-order nonlinear fractional bouandary value problems, Fractional Calculus and Applied Analysis. 18(6) (2015) 1423-1440.
- Q.M. Al-Mdallal and M.I. Syam, An efficient for solving non-linear singularly perturbed two points bouandary- value problems of fractional order, Communications in Nonlinear Science and Numerical Simultion. 17(6) (2012) 2299-2308.
- Q.M. Al-Mdallal, Q.N. Syam and M.N. Answar, A collocation-shooting method for solving fractional boundary value problems, Commun Nonlinear Sci. NumerSimol. 15 (2010) 3814-3822.
- 7. L. Blank, Numerical treatment of differential equations of fractional order, Numerical analysis Report 287, Manchester Center for Numerical Computational Mathematics, (1996).
- H. Beyer and H. Kempfle, Definition of physically consistent damping laws with fractional derivatives, Zeitschrift for Anqueandte Mathematich and Mechanich. 75 (1995) 623-635.
- 9. A. Carpinteri and F. Mainardi, Fractals and fractional calculus in continuum mechanics, New York, Springer verlger wien (1997).
- V. Daftardar-Gejji and H. Jafari, Analysis of a system of nonautonomous fractional equations in volving Caputo derivatives, J. Math. Aval. Appl. 328 (2007) 26-33.
- V. Daftardar-Gejji and H. Jafari, Adomian decompositions a tool for solving a system of fractional differential equations, J. Math. Aval. Appe. 301 (2005) 508-518.
- S.E. El-Gendi, Chebyshev solutions of Differential Integral and Integro-Differential Equations, Computers Journal. 12 (1969) 282-287.

- 13. T.M. El-Gendy and M.S. Salim, Penalty functions with partial quadratic interpolation technique in the constrained optimization problems, Journal of Institute of Math. Computer Science. 3 (1990) 85-90.
- 14. H.M. El-Hawary, M.S. Salim and H.S. Hussein, Legendre spectral method for solving integral and integro-differential equations, International Journa of Computer Mathematics. 76 (2000) 1-2.
- H.M. El-Hawary, M.S. Salim and H.S. Hussein, An optimal Ultraspherical Approximation of Integrals, International Journa of Computer Mathematics. 76 (2000) 219-237.
- M.M. El-kady, H.S. Hussein and A. Mohamed Ibrahim, Ultraspherical spectral in integration method for solving linear integro-differential equations, World Academy of Science Engineering and Technology. 33 (2009) 880-887.
- 17. S. Irandoust-Pakchin, S. Abdi-Mazraeh Exact solutions for some of the fractional differential equations by using modification of He's variational iteration method, Mathematical sciences Journal. 5 (2011) 151-160.
- M. Lakestani, M. Dehghan and S. Irandoust-Pakchin, The construction of operational matirx of fractional derivatives using B-Spline functions, Communications in Non linear Science and Numerical Simulation. 17 (2012) 1149-1162.
- 19. Liu SK, Liv SD, Special functions, Chinese, Meteorology Press, (2003).
- V.E. Lynch, B.A. Carreras, D. Del-Castillo-Negrete, K.M. Ferrera-Mejias and H.R. Hicks Numerical methods for the solution of partial differential equations of fractional order, J. Comput. phys. 192 (2003) 406-421.
- 21. F. Mainardi, Fractional calculus some basic problems in continuum and statistical mechanics, Fractals and fractional calculus in continuum Mechanics, New York, springer. (1997) 291-348.
- A.Saadatmandi and M. Dehghan, A new operational Matrix for solving fractional-order differential equations, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 59 (2010) 1326-1336.
- 23. G. Szego, Orthogonal polynomials, American mathematical society, 1976.

A. Khani and S. Panahi, Faculty of Sciences, Department of Mathematics, Azarbaijan Shahid Madani University, Tabriz, Iran. E-mail address: khani@azaruniv.ac.ir E-mail address: saeidmath86@gmail.com